
City of Kelowna
Public Hearing

AGENDA
 

Tuesday, April 15, 2014

6:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

THE CHAIR WILL CALL THE HEARING TO ORDER:

1.     (a)    The purpose of this Hearing is to consider
certain bylaws which, if adopted, shall amend Kelowna
2030 - Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 and
Zoning Bylaw No. 8000.

(b)   All persons who believe that their interest in property
is affected by the proposed bylaws shall be afforded a
reasonable opportunity to be heard or to present written
submissions respecting matters contained in the bylaws
that are the subject of this hearing.  This Hearing is open to
the public and all representations to Council form part of
the public record.  A live audio feed may be broadcast and
recorded by Castanet.

(c)   All information, correspondence, petitions or reports
that have been received concerning the subject bylaws
have been made available to the public.  The
correspondence and petitions received after April 4, 2014
(date of notification) are available for inspection during the
course of this hearing and are located on the information
table in the foyer of the Council Chamber.

(d)   Council debate on the proposed bylaws is scheduled
to take place during the Regular Council meeting after the
conclusion of this Hearing. It should be noted, however,
that for some items a final decision may not be able to be
reached tonight.

1



(e)   It must be emphasized that Council will not receive
any representation from the applicant or members of the
public after conclusion of this Public Hearing.

2. Notification of Meeting

The City Clerk will provide information as to how the
Hearing was publicized.

3. Individual Bylaw Submissions

3.1 Bylaw No. 10924 (OCP13-0021) - Thomson Flats,
Melcor Development Ltd.

5 - 19

To amend the Area Structure Plan in the Official
Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500.

3.2 Bylaw No. 10933 (Z13-0038) - 721-725 Francis
Avenue, Aldo & Wilma Clinaz

20 - 38

To consider a proposal to legalize through zoning
an existing fourplex that was originally approved as
a duplex.

3.3 Bylaw No. 10934 (Z13-0037) - 3657 Highway 97
North, Raul Holdings Inc.

39 - 61

To consider a proposal to rezone the subject
property from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the C10
– Service Commercial zone in order to develop a
service commercial building containing four (4)
tenant spaces.

3.4 Bylaw No. 10937 (Z13-0045) - 469 Glenmore Road,
Terry Johnson & Jeffery Pereverzoff

62 - 97

To consider a proposal to rezone the subject
property from the A1 - Agriculture 1 zone to the C3 -
Communi ty  Commerc ia l  zone in  order  to
accommodate a car wash.

3.5 Bylaw No. 10938 (HD14-0001) - 609 Burne Avenue,
Craig Abernethy

98 - 104

To consider removal of the Municipal Heritage
Designation from the subject property as the former
heritage building located on the site commonly
known as the 'John F. Burne House' was completely
destroyed by fire in August 2013.

3.6 Bylaw No. 10940 (OCP14-0007) and Bylaw No. 105 - 121

2



10941 (Z14-0002) - 1924 Henkel Road and (Part of)
Henkel Road, Surinder Gosel & City of Kelowna

To amend the Official Community Plan in order to
change the future land use designations of part of
the subject properties from the REP – Resource
Protection Area and EDINST – Educational/Major
Inst i tut ional designat ions to the S2RES –
Single/Two Unit Residential designation and to
rezone part of the subject properties from the RR3 –
Rural Residential 3 and P2 – Educational Minor
Institutional zone to the RU2 – Medium Lot Housing
zone in order to accommodate the development of a
six lot single family subdivision.

3.7 Bylaw No. 10944 (TA14-0006) - Medical Marihuana
Production Facilities - Industrial Zones

122 - 125

To amend Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 to allow Medical
Marihuana Production Facilities as a principle use in
the I1 - Business Industrial Zone.

4. Termination

5. Procedure on each Bylaw Submission

(a)     Brief description of the application by City Staff
(Land Use Management);

(b)     The Chair will request that the City Clerk indicate
all information, correspondence, petitions or reports
received for the record.

(c)     The applicant is requested to make representation
to Council regarding the project and is encouraged to
limit their presentation to 15 minutes.

(d)     The Chair will call for representation from the
public in attendance as follows:

    (i)     The microphone at the public podium has been
provided for any person(s) wishing to make
representation at the Hearing.

     (ii)     The Chair will recognize ONLY speakers at the
podium.

     (iii)     Speakers are encouraged to limit their remarks
to 5 minutes, however, if they have additional

3



information they may address Council again after all
other members of the public have been heard a first
time.

(e)     Once the public has had an opportunity to
comment, the applicant is given an opportunity to
respond to any questions raised.  The applicant is
requested to keep the response to a total of 10 minutes
maximum.

(f)     Questions by staff by members of Council must be
asked before the Public Hearing is closed and not during
debate of the bylaw at the Regular Meeting, unless for
clarification.

(g)     Final calls for respresentation (ask three times). 
Unless Council directs that the Public Hearing on the
bylaw in question be held open, the Chair shall state to
the gallery that the Public Hearing on the Bylaw is closed.

Note:  Any applicant or member of the public may use
visual aids (e.g. photographs, sketches, slideshows, etc.)
to assist in their presentation or questions.  The computer
and ELMO document camera at the public podium are
available.  Please ask staff for assistance prior to your
item if required.

4



Report to Council 
 

 
Date: 

 
3/3/2014 
 

File: 
 

ASP13-0001 
OCP13-0021 
1200-10 
 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Department Manager, Policy & Planning 

Subject: 
 

Thomson Flats – Request to amend the Official Community Plan and to prepare 
an Area Structure Plan (two phases) 

 
Existing OCP Designation: FUR – Future Urban Reserve 
 
Existing Zoning:  A1 – Agriculture 1 
 
    Report Prepared by: Gary Stephen / Lindsey Ganczar 

 
 
Recommendation:   
THAT Council authorize the amendment of the Official Community Plan (OCP) to create an 
Area Structure Plan boundary, as shown in Attachment 1 of the report. 
 
AND THAT Council authorize the preparation of a two-phase Area Structure Plan for a 
maximum of 1400 dwelling units (800 units in Phase 1, 600 units in Phase 2) on the following 
properties: 
 

 AREA 1 - SE ¼ of Sec 24, Tp 28; 

 AREA 2 - W ½ of SW ¼ Sec 19, Tp 29 & E ½ of SE 1/4 Sec 19, Tp 29; and 

 AREA 3 - Lot 1, Plan 28237 & Lot 2, Plan 28237. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To consider a request for authorization to amend the Official Community Plan (OCP) and 
prepare an Area Structure Plan (ASP) for the Thomson Flats area, in accordance with the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan and Council Policy No. 2471. The applicant is seeking 
authorization to investigate the potential for the development of up to 1400 dwelling units in 
two phases, consisting predominantly of single dwelling housing. 
 
Policy & Planning Comments: 
 
The Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan (OCP) directs the majority of development to 
urban centres in the form of multi-unit residential development. However, the OCP does 

                                                      
1
 Council Policy No. 247 – Hierarchy of Plans (Sector Plans/Structure Plans/Redevelopment Plans), Approved June 4, 1996 

5



make some provision for low density development in several specific areas of Kelowna 
identified in the plan. 
 
In order to determine if an OCP amendment for an additional ASP area is reasonable in this 
location at this time, an analysis of existing ASP growth nodes was conducted to determine 
potential total build-out vs. units constructed to date in those areas. ASP areas considered 
within that analysis included: 
 

 Black Mountain / Kirschner Mountain 

 South West (SW) Mission (Neighbourhoods 1, 2, 3) 

 Tower Ranch 

 University South 

 Glenmore Highlands 

 North Clifton 

 Eagle Ridge 

 Diamond Mountain 

The above ASP areas have a combined projected build-out of approximately 12,000 units 
(including single and two-unit dwellings, and multi-residential units). As of the end of 2013, 
approximately 4,000 units have been developed within the existing ASP areas.  Therefore, 
there are approximately 8,000 units remaining, of which 5400 are anticipated as single and 
two-unit dwellings. 
 
By using annual development statistics, with 17 years remaining in the timeline of the current 
OCP 2030 growth strategy, it is possible to determine roughly the number of years of supply 
remaining for single and two-unit dwelling development. 5400 units developed over the 17 
years remaining in the OCP equates to approximately 320 units developed per year until the 
end of the current OCP. 
 
However, when evaluating both short and longer term housing start trends, the average 
annual number of building permits issued for new single and two-unit dwellings has been: 
 

 366 units/year over the past 5 years; 

 566 units/year over the past 10 years; and 

 594 units/year over the past 24 years. 
 
Based on 5400 units remaining to be developed, the current approved ASP areas have 
approximately 9 to 14 years left of development. This falls short of the 17 years remaining in 
the OCP and the City may require more land for single and two-unit residential development 
within the planning horizon of the existing OCP.  Based on historical averages, there is 
potential that the Thomson Flats land will be required to meet demand. The timing for the 
completion and implementation of this project would not realistically bring new lots to the 
market before five (5) years. Therefore, staff is supportive of pursuing the preliminary 
planning and servicing analysis as requested. 
 
With respect to multiple unit development the OCP projected the need for 12,000 new units 
by 2030 and those units would be split approximately 50% / 50% between Urban Core and 
Suburban locations.  The anticipated annual development of multiple units over the OCP 20 
year horizon would be on the order of 575 units per year.  While the 10 year average split 

6



between single / two unit residential (SU) and multiple unit residential (MU)is 44% / 56%, 
recent trends have been lower and the expected annual multiple unit allocation has not been 
achieved, primarily due to economic conditions and the difficulty selling and financing 
multiple unit projects. Overall the OCP projects that the housing split between SU and MU 
would be on the order of 43% SU / 57% MU and since the OCP was adopted the recent trend is 
approximately 61% SU and 39% MU.  There is considerable capacity for multiple unit growth 
remaining within the Urban Centres and the Urban Core Area. 
 
While there may be statistical reasons for supporting the approval of new planning work in 
Southwest Mission, there are philosophical issues on urban vs. sprawl growth; directing 
development in North Kelowna vs. South Kelowna, and potential changes in housing market 
preferences that all should be considered prior to authorizing the applicants to undertake a 
lengthy and costly exercise. 
 
It needs to be recognized that even though this project is designated as Future Urban 
Reserve, it is currently outside of the 2030 OCP growth strategy and was not intended for 
development within the 2030 time horizon. Adding a new growth area without the context of 
a full OCP Review means there may be significant impacts to the 20 Year Servicing Plan and 
Financing Strategy in that the allocation of more growth units challenges our growth strategy 
objectives and could impact servicing requirements and Development Cost Charges (DCCs). 
 
Also, the 2030 OCP growth strategy envisages a split between single / two units and multiple 
units of 43% to 57%.  The housing unit distribution was intended to balance the projected 
units between growth nodes (on the basis of land availability) and an overall objective of 
densification in urban centres and urban core areas to meet multiple objectives of the OCP 
growth strategy. 
 
Despite these challenges, this site (as opposed to other potential ASP locations) is considered 
a unique situation in that Council supported this site to be designated as Future Urban 
Reserve within the Permanent Growth Boundary (PGB) and that services to the subject 
properties are currently available at the west and north property lines. Policy & Planning 
recommends that the applicant be authorized to engage the appropriate professional 
resources to work with Staff to examine the viability of development on the subject 
properties. The completed assessment will be presented to Council in the form of an ASP for 
further consideration.  
 
Proposal: 
 
Background: 
In preparation for the OCP review in 2007/2008, Policy and Planning sent letters to all major 
property owners in the City, particularly those in suburban locations, to determine if there 
was interest in having future land uses redesignated for the next OCP. The owners were 
encouraged to submit letters or other documentation in support of their requests. 
 
Policy & Planning received numerous proposals from various areas in the City, including 
requests from the owners of the Thomson Flats lands and the North Glenmore/McKinley lands. 
The submissions were analyzed by the consultant who determined that the development units 
requested by those submissions outside the PGB had twice as many units proposed as 
necessary to satisfy the 20 year growth strategy. 
 

7



As part of the OCP review, the City conducted an analysis of population growth and housing 
needs and it was determined that based on housing preferences at that time, Kelowna would 
need an additional 1000 one & two unit dwellings for the 20 year horizon to 2030, over and 
above what units remained within existing development nodes (University South, Tower 
Ranch, Black Mountain, Bell Mountain, Kirschner Mountain and the three neighbourhoods in 
SW Mission) inside the Permanent Growth Boundary (PGB). 
 
In discussion with Council in the fall of 2009, prior to the first OCP land use open house, 
Policy & Planning outlined how and where those extra 1000 units could be 
accommodated. Council was informed that either North Glenmore (Eagle Ridge, Diamond 
Mountain) or SW Mission (Thomson Flats) were suitable. The Council of the day decided that 
they wanted to see more growth in North Glenmore in support of UBC Okanagan, so those 
properties were brought inside the PGB as potential Area Structure Plan projects. 
 
At the same time, Council did not support more growth in SW Mission in the current OCP, but 
did acknowledge the long term potential of the area. Therefore, the Thomson Flats and 
Crawford Estates areas were allowed to remain within the PGB but designated as Future 
Urban Reserve (i.e. consideration beyond a 20 year horizon) with no Area Structure Plan 
designation. 
 
In November, 2013 Melcor Developments made a formal application to the City (on behalf of 
the Thomson Flats land owners) seeking to redesignate the subject lands from Future Urban 
Reserve to an ASP area, and authorization to proceed with the ASP. 
 
While the application requesting authorization to prepare an ASP does contain some details 
regarding servicing, these details should be understood to be preliminary and conceptual in 
nature. Details regarding all aspects of the proposal will be addressed in the next phases of 
ASP development.  Should the request be authorized, the next phases of the ASP process are 
as follows, as outlined in Council Policy No. 247: 
 
1. Development of a Terms of Reference (TOR) in cooperation with the Applicant, City staff, 

and legal representation, as necessary; 

2. Preparation of a draft ASP for review by City staff, in accordance with the TOR; 

3. Preparation of second draft ASP for review by City staff; 

4. Holding of a Public Information Meeting (PIM); 

5. Submission of Final draft ASP and associated OCP and Zoning Bylaw amendment 
applications; 

6. The remainder of the process will follow standards practices for OCP / Zoning Bylaw 
amendments. 

 
Project Description: 
The applicant is proposing to prepare an ASP over five parcels located along the City’s south 
boundary east of Chute Lake Road. The ASP is divided into three areas. The majority of the 
ASP will focus on the three most western parcels (Areas 1 and 2) with only high level planning 
conducted on the two easterly parcels at this time (Area 3). More detailed ASP work will be 
required at a future date for the eastern lots when the applicant wishes to move forward. All 
of the parcels are currently in their natural state and have a variety of slopes. None of the 
properties are presently serviced by water or sanitary sewer. 

8



 
The ASP submission proposes the development of up to 800 dwelling units in Areas 1 and 2. 
The units will consist primarily of single dwelling housing, with the potential for some 
compact cluster housing. Other uses will include parks, open space and amenities. Area 3 may 
include approximately 600 additional units at a later time.  The suggested development yield 
is somewhat theoretical at this time until the completion of the more detailed analysis of 
servicing capacity, road network requirements, as well as environmental and hazardous 
conditions including steep slopes, as part of the ASP process. 
 
The applicant will explore with City staff issues such as servicing, road access, storm 
drainage, topography, visual impact assessment, and environmentally sensitive features 
before bringing the ASP forward for Council consideration. 
 
Site Context: 
The subject properties are situated along the southern City boundary between Chute Lake 
Road to the west and Bellevue Creek to the east. There are mountain bike and hiking trails 
throughout the property, as well as evidence of roads from unauthorized vehicle use. 
 
The subject properties also contain many challenging constraints to development, including 
steep slopes, environmentally sensitive features, and wildfire hazard. While these challenges 
are understood to be common among hillside development, there are additional features with 
which staff will be concerned, focused primarily on transportation linkages and standards.   
 
Subject Properties Map: 
The subject properties map is Attachment 1 of the report. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
Infrastructure Planning 
Development Engineering Branch 
Transportation & Mobility 
Subdivision, Environment & Agricultural Branch 
Urban Planning 
 
Hierarchy of Plans: 
 
Area Structure Plans provide an important link between an OCP, which is prepared at a broad 
community scale, and an actual development proposal prepared at a property scale. ASPs 
provide Council and Staff with the ability to identify impacts, to resolve issues, and to set 
standards for larger scale developments in advance of a formal rezoning or Development 
Permit application.  
 
Existing Policy: 
 
Council Policy No. 247 establishes the Hierarchy of Plans and lays out the broad processes by 
which an ASP is to be prepared (outline above under “Background”). This policy is reinforced 
by direction in the OCP that describes the role of ASPs.  
 
The request for authorization is consistent with Council Policy No. 247 and guidelines of the 
OCP. 

9



Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
The application fee required for the preparation of Area Structure Plans reflects the 
magnitude of these plans and their impact on staff time and associated legal resources. As 
such, it is not anticipated that there will be significant financial or budgetary consideration. 
However, it is difficult to anticipate the precise costs for each application. 
 
Personnel Implications: 
 
The development of Area Structure Plans does require significant staff resources from 
multiple departments. Staff resources will be required from the Policy & Planning 
Department, where it is anticipated that 20% of the time of one Planner will be required 
throughout the ASP process. Infrastructure Planning has indicated that due to the potential 
impact of such a major project on servicing, both within and outside this sector, there could 
be a workload impact of up to 1 person year or more depending on the outcomes of the 
technical analysis and subsequent plan changes.  
 
Other departments, such as Urban Planning, Development Engineering, Subdivision, Regional 
Services, Communications, and Real Estate and Building Services will also be impacted to 
varying degrees. 
 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
 
This application for authorization was circulated to the Regional District of Central Okanagan 
(RDCO). Their comments are provided as Attachment 2 of the report. 
 
The coming phases of the ASP process will provide additional opportunities for both external 
agencies and the general public to submit comments and to make representations. The 
application will be referred to external agencies as necessary, and the public will be provided 
with multiple opportunities to provide input including the holding of a Public Information 
Meeting and a Public Hearing. Further opportunities will be considered where appropriate 
during the development of the ASP. 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
    
Gary Stephen, Long Range Planning Manager 
Policy & Planning 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:    Danielle Noble-Brandt, Department Manager,  
Policy & Planning 

 
Cc:  Utilities Planning Manager, Infrastructure Planning 

Manager, Development Engineering 
Manager, Transportation & Mobility 
Director, Subdivision, Environment & Agricultural Branch 
Manager, Urban Planning 

 

10



Attachments: 
 

1. Subject Property Map 
2. Proposed ASP Phasing Map 
3. Circulation comments from RDCO 
4. Technical Memorandum from Development Engineering 

 
 

11



12



13



14



15



16



17



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 10 March 2014 

RIM No. 1200-10 

To: City Manager 

From: Department Manager, Policy & Planning 

Application: ASP13-0001, OCP13-0021 Owners: 

Melcor Lakeside Inc. 

Canadian Horizons Land 
Development Corp. 

Address: Thomson Flats Applicant: Melcor Development Ltd. 

Subject: Supplemental Report 

Existing OCP Designation: FUR – Future Urban Reserve 

Proposed OCP Designation: ASP – Area Structure Plan 

Existing Zoning: A1 – Agriculture 1 

  

Recommendation: 

THAT Council receives for information the supplemental report from the Policy & Planning 
Department dated March 10, 2014 with respect to Area Structure Plan Application No. ASP13-
0001 and Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Application No. OCP13-0021; 
 
AND THAT Council has considered the public consultation process for the purpose of Section 879 
of the Local Government Act and agrees that a public consutation process not be required as it 
will be a component of the Area Structure Plan (ASP) process; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Official Community Plan (OCP) Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public 
Hearing for further consideration. 

Purpose: 

To consider the public consultation process for the Area Structure Plan and Official Community 
Plan Bylaw Amendment and to forward the OCP Amending Bylaw to a Public Hearing. 

 

18



ASP13-0001, OCP13-0021 – Page 2 

 
 

Policy & Planning Comments: 

On March 3, 2014, Council approved a request by Melcor Developments Ltd. to amend the OCP to 
allow for a new designated ASP within the plan boundary, and to seek authorization to prepare 
the related ASP. 

The ASP process involves extensive public engagement over a lengthy time period, and therefore 
staff feel that public consultation prior to initial consideration is not necessary.  

Report prepared by: 

     
Gary Stephen, Long Range Planning Manager 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Danielle Noble-Brandt, Department Manager 
     Policy & Planning 

 

19



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: March 17, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (JM) 

Application: Z13-0038 Owner: Aldo & Wilma Clinaz 

Address: 721-725 Francis Avenue Applicant: Lynn Welder Lalonde 

Subject: 2014 03 24 Report Z13-0038 721-725 Francis Ave  

Existing OCP Designation: MRL – Multiple Unit Residential (Low Density) 

Existing Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

Proposed Zone: RM1 – Four Dwelling Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0038 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Strata Lots 1 and 2, District Lot 136, ODYD, Strata Plan 
KAS1005 Together With An Interest In The Common Property In Proportion To The Unit 
Entitlement Of The Strata Lot As Shown In Form 1, located on 721-725 Francis Avenue, Kelowna, 
BC from the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zone to the RM1 – Four Dwelling Housing zone be, 
considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction with 
Council’s consideration of a Development Permit and Development Variance Permit for the 
subject property; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose   

To consider a proposal to legalize through zoning an existing fourplex that was originally 
approved as a duplex.  
 
 
 

20



Z13-0038 – Page 2 

 
 

3.0 Urban Planning Department  

Urban Planning Department staff are supportive of the land use, as it furthers the long-range 
policy objectives of the Official Community Plan, which anticipates low density multiple unit 
residential development fronting Richter Street. Also, the applicant has in this case, been 
cooperative in working with staff to make improvements to the exterior of the building and to 
the site’s landscaping. 

Nevertheless, even where supported by the OCP, the legalization of existing illegal fourplexes – 
usually constructed as duplexes – presents substantial challenges both for staff and for 
applicants. For staff, the most significant of these challenges is one of form and character. As it 
is, the proposal does not meet the necessary Development Permit Guidelines within the OCP, 
and, were this new construction, staff would not support the proposal on the grounds that it does 
not meet the overall standards for design quality for multiple unit residential development. As 
further evidence of this, requests for these legalizations often trigger multiple variances and 
encounter challenges with Floor Area Ratio regulations because the manner in which the sites 
were originally subdivided and developed is not suited to accommodating the additional units. 

This leaves staff in a very challenging position where they are forced to negotiate for whatever 
form and character improvements that applicants are prepared to provide. This changes on a 
case-by-case basis and sets an uneven playing field for applicants and staff. In addition, allowing 
the legalization of these structures – which were not originally designed as four-plexes and which 
do not meet many of the OCP’s form and character objectives – erodes the valuable cooperative 
work that staff and applicants undertake in designing new fourplexes that meet the OCP’s 
objectives. 

From the applicant’s standpoint, the conversion of duplexes to fourplexes can be a costly 
exercise. Building Code requirements between the two housing forms are substantially different, 
and it can be very expensive to upgrade an older building to bring it into compliance with current 
standards. 

Finally, in a competitive housing market, legalizing fourplexes originally approved as duplexes 
reduces the incentive to develop new, appropriately designed fourplex housing, particularly from 
a price competition perspective. 

In order to address these concerns, Urban Planning staff will be preparing a Bulletin for members 
of the public that will establish baseline expectations for the legalization of fourplex 
development. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The structure on site that presently contains four dwellings was originally permitted as a duplex 
in 1991. At some point after its original construction, the building was illegally converted into a 
fourplex. While staff suspect that the fourplex has been operating illegally for several years, City 
of Kelowna Bylaw Services staff only became formally involved as of February, 2013. Following 
action by Bylaw staff, a formal application to legalize the fourplex was made in October, 2013. 

4.2 Project Description 

The subject property is presently zoned RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing, and contains one two-storey 
principal structure consisting of four dwelling units. Each unit has separate access at grade, with 
two units located on the main floor accessing directly off the carports, and two additional units 
above accessing from each side of the building. 

21



Z13-0038 – Page 3 

 
 

The site’s east side flanks a lane, and takes vehicular access from two driveways on Francis 
Avenue and one driveway on the laneway. Private open space for residents is principally 
contained in the rear yard.  

In concert with the Rezoning, the proponent has also made application for a Development 
Variance Permit for two items: to increase the maximum site coverage for buildings, driveways 
and parking areas from 50% permitted to 57% proposed, and to permit vehicular access from the 
lane as well as the fronting street.  

A Development Permit is also required in order to evaluate the form and character of the 
fourplex. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located on the south side of Francis Avenue, approximately 20m east of 
its intersection with Richter Street. The lot currently contains an illegal fourplex structure, and 
two accessory buildings in the rear yard. The surrounding area is characterized by a mix of single 
dwelling housing, duplex housing, and low density multiple dwelling housing. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 
Single detached dwellings 
Duplex dwellings 

East RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 
Single detached dwellings 
Duplex dwellings 

South RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Single detached dwellings 

West RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 
Single detached dwellings 
Fourplex 

 

  

22



Z13-0038 – Page 4 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 721-725 Francis Avenue 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table   

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RM1 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 700 m2 707 m2 

Lot Width 20.0 m 23.20 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m 30.47 m 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 0.6 0.594 

Height Lesser of 9.5 m or 2 ½ storeys 7.9 m / Two storeys 

Front Yard 6.0 m 6.33 m 

Side Yard (east) 2.5 m 3.38 m 

Side Yard (west) 2.5 m 3.38 m 

Rear Yard 7.5 m 8.81 m 

Site Coverage (buildings) 40% 36.26% 

Site Coverage (buildings, 
driveways & parking areas) 

50% 57% 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 7 stalls 8 stalls 

Private Open Space 100 m2 ~109 m2 

Access Restrictions Lane Only Frontage Street & Lane 

23



Z13-0038 – Page 5 

 
 

 Indicates a requested variance to the maximum a site coverage of buildings, driveways, and parking areas from 50% permitted to 

57% proposed. 

 Indicates a requested variance to allow from the lane and from the fronting street. 

5.0 Current Development Policies   

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

The Future Land Use designation of the subject property in the OCP is MRL – Multiple Unit 
Residential (low density). 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Complete Suburbs.2 Support a mix of uses within Kelowna’s suburbs (see Map 5.1 - Urban Core 
Area), in accordance with “Smart Growth” principles to ensure complete communities. Uses that 
should be present in all areas of the City (consistent with Map 4.1 - Future Land Use Map), at 
appropriate locations, include: commercial, institutional, and all types of residential uses 
(including affordable and special needs housing) at densities appropriate to their context. 
Building heights in excess of four storeys will not be supported within the suburban areas, unless 
provided for by zoning existing prior to adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500. 

Ensure adherence to form and character, natural environment, hazardous condition and 
conservation guidelines.3 

Sensitive Infill.4 Encourage new development or redevelopment in existing residential areas to 
be sensitive to or reflect the character of the neighborhood with respect to building design, 
height and siting. 

6.0 Technical Comments   

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permits. 

2) Operable bedroom windows required as per the 2012 edition of the British Columbia 
Building Code (BCBC 12). 

3) Range hood above the stove and the washroom to vent separately to the exterior of 
the building. The size of the penetration for this duct thru a fire separation is 
restricted by BCBC 06, so provide size of ducts and fire separation details at time of 
Building Permit Applications. 

4) A fire rated exit stairwell is required from the 2nd Floor to the exterior. Please 
provide these details on the building permit drawing sets at time of application. 

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.3.2 (Development Process Chapter). 
2
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 

3
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Objective 5.4 (Development Process Chapter). 

4
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.22.6 (Development Process Chapter). 

24



Z13-0038 – Page 6 

 
 

5) Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached Memorandum, dated October 17, 2013. 

6.3 Bylaw Services 

City of Kelowna Bylaw Services has an open Service Request, #248729, for illegal suites at this 
location. The file was generated on February 1, 2013 and remains open to this day. 

6.4 Fire Department 

No concerns. 

6.5 Interior Health Authority 

As the subject property is serviced by community sanitary sewer and community water systems 
and the proposed development would serve to increase density this office has no concern or 
objection to the proposed development. 

6.6 RCMP 

The RCMP have no comments regarding this application. 

6.7 Shaw 

Shaw Cable approves the proposed new 4 plex development at 721/725 Francis Avenue. 

Owner/ developer to supply and install an underground conduit system per Shaw Cable drawings 
and specifications. 

6.8 Telus 

No Comment. 

6.9 FortisBC 

There are primary distribution facilities within the laneway adjacent to the subject’s east 
property line.  The applicant is responsible for costs associated with any change to the subject 
property’s existing service, if any, as well as the provision of appropriate land rights where 
required. 

6.10 FortisBC Energy 

No comment. 

7.0 Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: October 10, 2013  
 
Date Circulation Complete:  November 13, 2013 
 
Public Notification & Consultation: July 9-29, 2013 
 

25



Z13-0038 – Page 7 

 
 

Additional Information Requested: November 29, 2013 
 
Additional Information Received: February 15, 2014 
 
Outstanding Information Received: March 3, 2014 

 
Report prepared by: 

     
James Moore, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Urban Land Use Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Div. Director, Community Planning & Real Estate 
 
  

Attachments:   

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan 
Floor Plans 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Context/Site Photo 
Development Engineering Memorandum, dated October 17, 2013 

26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: March 17, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (JM) 

Application: Z13-0037 Owner: Raul Holdings Inc. 

Address: 3657 Highway 97N Applicant: 
Novation Design Studio (Paul 
Schuster) 

Subject: Rezoning Application   

Existing OCP Designation: SC – Service Commercial 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

Proposed Zone: C10 – Service Commerical 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0037 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot A, Section 35, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 19674, Except 
Plan 23587, located on 3657 Highway 97N, Kelowna, BC from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the 
C10 – Service Commercial zone be, considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction 
with Council’s consideration of a Development Permit and Development Variance Permit for the 
subject property; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch and Black Mountain Irrigation District being 
completed to their satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose   

To consider a proposal to rezone the subject property from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the C10 
– Service Commercial zone in order to develop a service commercial building containing four (4) 
tenant spaces. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

Urban Planning staff are supportive of the overall development concept, as it is consistent with 
the vision of the Official Community Plan (OCP) for the site. The building and supporting 

39



Z13-0037 – Page 2 

 
 

landscaping place considerable design effort on the site’s Highway 97 frontage, which contributes 
to the development of an improved highway corridor.  

The proposal contemplates a significant reduction in the required landscape buffer directly 
abutting lands in the ALR. Following OCP direction, staff seek to ensure the compatibility of 
adjacent development with agricultural lands. However, given the location of the building on the 
site, the nature of the proposed development, and the proposed buffer treatment, staff feel that 
the proposal adequately mitigates any potential negative impacts. Should the land use be 
supported by Council, the variance request will be explored more fully by staff at a later date. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The applicant has conducted Neighbour Consultation in accordance with the requirements of 
Council Policy No. 367. Of the 6 properties contacted with regards to the development proposal, 
none were opposed, and one was in support. 

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing to develop a service commercial building on the subject property. The 
building will be a single storey with a mezzanine, having a total building footprint of 590m2 and a 
total floor area of 826m2 (including mezzanine). The building will contain space for up to four 
tenants, each having their own loading bay access at the rear of the building.  

The building is oriented so that it fronts Highway 97N, and it is from that frontage that the main 
entrances for all the tenant spaces are taken. It is also the highway frontage of the proposed 
building that benefits from the highest level of design detail and visual interest. 

While the building fronts Highway 97, its access is located at the opposite side of the site at 
Lansdowne Place. Garbage and recycling for the development is located on the south side of the 
building, and is appropriately screened from view. 

The southern property line directly abuts agricultural land situated within the Agricultural Land 
Reserve (ALR). Accordingly, increased buffer requirements are triggered on the subject property 
in accordance with both City and ALC policy. Beyond the policy direction for a larger landscape 
buffer adjacent to ALR lands, there is a minimum Zoning Bylaw standard of a 3.0m buffer. The 
proponent has made application for a Development Variance Permit to reduce the landscape 
buffer requirement from 3.0m required to 1.0m proposed. 

Alongside the Development Variance Permit, Development permits are also required to evaluate 
the form and character of the proposed development as well as its impact on adjacent farmland. 
Should Council give favourable consideration to the proposal, both application will be brought 
forward in concert with final adoption of the rezoning. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property fronts the south side of Highway 97N, approximately 150m southwest of its 
intersection with Commercial Drive in the Rutland sector of the city. The 0.36ha lot is generally 
triangular in shape, and takes its principal access from the east at Lansdowne Place.  

The lot is situated in an area characterized by land uses which are sharply divided between a mix 
of service commercial and industrial set against agricultural lands in the Agricultural Land 
Reserve (ALR). The lot is zoned A1 – Agriculture 1 zone, but is designated as SC – Service 

40



Z13-0037 – Page 3 

 
 

Commercial in the OCP and is within the Permanent Growth Boundary. The parcel is not within 
the ALR, but it does share its southern lot line with lands that are in the ALR.  

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North C10 – Service Commercial Service commercial development 

East C10 – Service Commercial Service commercial development 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Agriculture 

West 
A1 – Agriculture 1/Land Use Contract 77-
1040 

General industrial uses 

 

Subject Property Map: 3657 Highway 97N 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C10 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 1,000 m2 3,583 m2 

Lot Width 30.0 m Approx 75.0 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m Approx 90.0 m 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 0.65 0.23 

Height 12.0 m / 3 storeys 11.5 m / 1 storey + mezzanine 

Front Yard (hwy 97) 4.5 m exceeds 

Side Yard (south) 4.5 m 6.0 m 

Side Yard (northeast) 0.0 m 10.0 m 

Rear Yard (east corner) 0.0 m exceeds 

41



Z13-0037 – Page 4 

 
 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 2 stalls / 100m2 = 17 stalls 20 stalls 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I: 2 
Class II: 5 

Class I: TBD 
 Class II: TBD 

Loading Space 1 per 1,900m2 4 stalls 

Landscape Buffer Requirements 
Front 

Side (northeast) 
Side (south) 

Rear (east corner) 

 
Level 4 (3.0m planting) 
Level 3 (3.0m or fence) 

Level 5 (3.0m planting & fence) 
Level 3 (3.0m or fence) 

 
Level 4 (3.0m planting) 
Level 3 (3.0m or fence) 

Level 1 (1.0m planting & fence)  
Level 3 (3.0m or fence) 

 Indicates a requested variance to the minimum landscape buffer abutting lands within the ALR from Level 5 required to Level 1 

proposed. 

5.0 Current Development Policies   

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Protect Agricultural Land.1 Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and by 
protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 
 
Retention of Commercial Land.2 In order to ensure that the City’s commercial land supply is not 
eroded, where the OCP Bylaw 10500 indicated a commercial land use designation for the 
property, the expectation would be that there be no net loss of commercial space on the site as 
a result of the redevelopment to include other uses. 

6.0 Technical Comments   

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s)  

2) Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. The submitted drawings do not show floor plans to make building 
comments on. 

3) The fire department may have access issues to get to the front of the building as 
required by code. Please have the fire department comment on access and required 
turn radius requirements. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached Memorandum, dated October 31, 2013.  

6.3 Fire Department 

Fire department access, fire flows, and hydrants as per the BC Building Code and City of Kelowna 
Subdivision Bylaw #7900. The Subdivision Bylaw #7900 requires a minimum of 150ltr/sec fire 
flows. KFD has concerns that if the building is addressed off of Highway 97N then access shall be 

                                                
1
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan. Chapter 5 (Development Process), Policy 5.33.1. 

2
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan. Chapter 5 (Development Process), Policy 5.24.2. 

42



Z13-0037 – Page 5 

 
 

off of the same. The plan indicates access off of Lansdowne Place - should this be the case, 
please ensure address is the same as access. Additional comments will be required at the building 
permit application. 

6.4 FortisBC (electric) 

There are primary distribution facilities along Highway 97N as well as Landsdowne Place.  
However, an extension will be required in order to service the proposed development.  The 
design process required to plan such an extension does not yet appear to have been initiated.  
The applicant is responsible for costs associated with any change to the subject property's 
existing service, if any, as well as the provision of appropriate land rights where required.  

Otherwise, FortisBC Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with this circulation. 

6.5 Black Mountain Irrigation District 

See attached email, dated November 1, 2013. 

6.6 Ministry of Transportation 

Approved. 

6.7 Shaw Cable 

Shaw Communications’ interests are unaffected. The applicant should contact Shaw regarding 
future cable services. 

6.8 Telus Communications 

TELUS will provide underground facilities to this development. Developer will be required to 
supply and install conduit as per TELUS policy. 

6.9 Agricultural Advisory Committee 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Agricultural Advisory Committee at the 
meeting on November 28, 2013 and the following referral comments were provided: 

The Committee did not have any concerns with respect to the proposed variance and ALR 
landscape buffering provided that there is a ‘solid’ fence constructed.  

 

7.0 Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: October 4, 2013 
 
Date Circulation Complete:  November 1, 2013 
  
Advisory Design Team:  November 7, 2013 
 
Public Notification & Consultation: February 17 & 18, 2014 

 

43



Z13-0037 – Page 6 

 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
James Moore, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Div. Director, Community Planning & Real Estate 

 

Attachments:   

Subject Property Map 
ALR Map 
Site Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Record of Public Notification and Consultation  
Email from the Black Mountain Irrigation District 
Development Engineering Memorandum, dated October 31, 2013 

44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 3/31/2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (JM) 

Application: Z13-0045 Owner: 
Terry Johnston & Jeffery 
Pereverzoff 

Address: 469 Glenmore Road Applicant: D.E. Pilling & Associates 

Subject: Rezoning Application   

Existing OCP Designation: COMM - Commercial 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 Zone  

Proposed Zone: C3 – Community Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0045 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot 1, Section 32, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 9951, located on 
469 Glenmore Road, Kelowna, BC from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the C3 – Community 
Commercial zone be, considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the land 
exchange between the applicant and the City be completed and registered, as described in the 
report from the Urban Planning Department, dated March 31, 2014; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
registration of a Statutory Right of Way granting the City access to the lands to the east of the 
subject property for maintenance purposes; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction with Council’s 
consideration of a Development Permit and a Development Variance Permit for the subject 
property; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch, and the Glenmore-Ellison Improvement 
District being completed to their satisfaction. 

 

62



Z13-0045 – Page 2 

 
 

2.0 Purpose   

To consider a proposal to rezone the subject property to the C3 – Community Commercial zone to 
accommodate a car wash. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

Urban Planning Department staff are generally supportive of the proposed land use change to the 
C3 – Community Commercial zone. The proposal is consistent with the Official Community Plan 
(OCP) future land use designation. Adding to this, the lot is situated within the Glenmore Valley 
village centre, which is the area in which the OCP seeks to direct commercial development in the 
Glenmore area. 

Within the list of permitted uses in the C3 zone, ‘Service Stations, Minor’ is a principal permitted 
use, allowing up to 6 car wash bays. While permitted in the zone, car washes as a use are both 
land consumptive and sometimes nuisance generating. In recognition of this, the Zoning Bylaw 
provides specific regulations addressing car washes and other vehicle oriented uses. One of these 
regulations addresses the proportion of the site occupied by buildings by requiring a minimum 
amount of land area per car wash bay that is to remain free of buildings. This number is set at 
370m2 per car wash bay, where the applicant’s proposal includes a request to reduce this 
standard to 193.8m2 per car wash bay. Examining the proposed land use with the above in mind 
reveals a site that appears to struggle somewhat to accommodate adequately the demands it 
generates, from parking to access and vehicle circulation.  

This challenge is made all the more difficult when paired with the constraints generated by the 
site’s context, including its interface with the park, the need to maintain access for the City to 
the adjacent park, and the interface with the residential community to the south. As a result of 
this struggle, the proposal is unable to accommodate any landscape buffer along the south 
property line. 

While staff and the applicant have worked together productively to attempt to address the 
challenges encountered, the applicant’s own consultation efforts have revealed that there 
remain major concerns among neighbouring residents about the potential for negative impacts 
from the project, and in particular, from noise and vehicle emissions. 

The above discussion leads to the focal point of the challenges that this development faces: the 
southern property line. It is in this location that the demands of the proposed use (access, 
parking, circulation) and the demands of its context (sightlines to park, noise and emissions 
mitigation) meet. The applicant has requested a variance to reduce the landscape buffer 
requirement in this location, and has suggested several measures aimed at mitigating the impacts 
of the development on adjacent lands. 

Despite this, Urban Planning staff are prepared to support this land use change to the C3 zone. 
Strictly speaking, it is not the use that is of concern to staff, but the expression of that use on 
the site in built form and site planning. To this end, the efforts of staff will be directed towards 
working with the applicant on the Development Permit and Development Variance Permit 
applications to ensure that the use proposed is expressed in a built form that respects its 
surroundings and adequately mitigates any negative impacts it may generate. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

When staff were initially approached about the potential development of the site for a 
commercial use, several key items were identified: 

63



Z13-0045 – Page 3 

 
 

 Access to Glenmore Road (4-lane arterial) would be limited, as there is already a 
significant number of driveway accesses in a short span; 

 The lane abutting the south side of the property is used as a park access, so maintaining 
visibility and clear lines of sight in and out is critical for public safety; 

 An existing mature tree on the east side of the property should be protected, as it 
contributes to the park to the east. 

The proposed development requires two driveway accesses for effective circulation. But, with 
driveways off Glenmore Road in such close proximity, the subject property would only be 
permitted a single access. One of the adjacent accesses is the lane abutting the south side of the 
property, which is used occasionally by the City for maintenance access to the detention pond in 
the park to the east and the underground utilities leading to it. In order to address this issue, 
staff from affected departments met on several occasions and determined that the City would be 
prepared to give up its maintenance driveway access in exchange for maintenance access to the 
detention pond through the subject property secured by way of Statutory Right-of-Way. This 
solution allows the applicant the two driveway accesses needed, and secures the required 
maintenance access for the City. 

Under typical circumstances, a car wash would construct sound barrier fencing and landscaping 
between it and all adjacent land uses. However, in this instance, that option is not supported by 
staff. The lane abutting the south side of the lot under application presently contains a gravel 
trail providing pedestrian access to the park and detention pond to the east. The detention pond 
and park area is well used by nearby residents, and there is no significant visual obstruction of 
the park from Glenmore Road. This allows for clear surveillance and increases the level of safety. 
There is a concrete wall on the south side of the lane, which is the north wall of the adjacent 
Sandalwood development. Developing opaque walls on the south, east, and north sides of the 
proposed development may result in significant safety issues for park users and may impact the 
success of the park in the long term. Staff have suggested that the applicant utilize fencing and 
landscaping that does not unduly obscure sightlines into the park. Unfortunately, this requires 
the applicant team to identify mechanisms to mitigate the negative noise impacts of the 
development without the use of solid walls.  

In order to address the protection of the mature tree on the east side of the lot, staff and the 
applicant have proposed a land-for-land swap. Under this swap, the applicant will dedicate  to 
the City 147m2 of land on the east side property in exchange for the equivalent land area of 
excess road right-of-way on the west side of the lot. This land exchange will be considered by 
Council in a separate but parallel process. 

A Development Permit and Development Variance Permit are required, and will be considered by 
Council alongside final adoption of the rezoning, should the land use be supported. The applicant 
is seeking two variances to eliminate landscape buffers on the west and south sides of the 
property in order to accommodate the circulation necessary for the development. This is of 
particular concern along the southern property line, which is nearest adjacent residential 
development. The City has offered the opportunity to purchase a small portion of the lane to the 
south that is not needed by the City in order to provide sufficient room for the proposal and 
associated standards. However, after some discussion, the applicant team elected not to move 
ahead with this option. Staff have asked the applicant to provide rationale supporting their 
variance request that discusses the noise impact of the proposal and possible mitigation 
measures. These will be discussed in more detail at Council’s consideration of the Development 
Variance Permit. 

64



Z13-0045 – Page 4 

 
 

The applicant has conducted Neighbour Consultation in accordance with Council Policy No. 367 
(see attachments). As a result, considerable concerns have been identified by residents of the 
adjacent (south) Sandalwood development, particularly those homes closest to the development. 
Concerns raised include the potential negative impacts of noise (car wash operation, vacuum 
operation, vehicle activity), and potential air quality concerns due to exhaust from idling cars. In 
response to this, the applicant has proposed several measures aimed at reducing any negative 
impacts (see attached rationale), including: 

 Installing vacuums designed to reduce noise; 

 Installing signage to reduce vehicle idling;  

 Installing sound barrier fencing around the vacuums; and, 

 Programming of car wash doors to reduce noise during wash process. 

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing to rezone the subject property in order to permit the development of 
a six bay car wash facility. The six car wash bays are divided between two buildings. The 
easternmost building contains two fully automated bays, and the westernmost building contains 
four self-serve bays, and two dog wash stations. Car vacuums are located both to the west of the 
buildings, and on the south side of the property. 

Vehicular traffic will enter through a one-way movement driveway that leads into the queuing 
areas for the car washes. Vehicles then proceed from the car wash out an exit only driveway onto 
Glenmore Road. Vehicle parking is provided on the west and south sides of the proposed 
development.  

Both buildings feature very dominant shed roof forms – each equipped with solar panels - that 
face directly south. Both buildings contain also two levels, but the second level of each building 
is limited, as the steep pitch of the shed roof constrains available floor area. The second level of 
the westernmost building has no windows, while the easternmost building has windows facing 
only to the north, east, and west elevations.  

Some landscaping is provided on site on the east and west property lines. There will be a fence 
buffering the properties to the north, which are presently occupied by the Glenmore-Ellison 
Improvement District. No landscaping is proposed on the south side of the property, where 
applicant has provided a black chain link fence in accordance with City requirements. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is situated on the east side of Glenmore Road approximately 300m south of 
its intersection with Kane Road. The lot is 1,541m2 in area and is presently undeveloped. It is 
zoned A1 – Agriculture 1, but is designated COMM – Commercial in the Official Community Plan. 
The lot is within the Permanent Growth Boundary, and is situated in the Glenmore Valley village 
centre. Development in the surrounding area is varied, including commercial, residential and 
institutional uses. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North 

P4 – Utilities 
C3 LR – Community Commercial  
P3 – Parks and Open Space 
RM5 – Medium Density Multiple Housing 

GEID yards and office 
Various commercial uses 
Brandt’s Creek Linear Park 
Low rise apartment housing 

65



Z13-0045 – Page 5 

 
 

East 
A1 – Agriculture 1  
P3 – Parks and Open Space 

Sutton Glen Park (detention pond) 
Brandt’s Creek Linear Park 

South RU5 – Bareland Strata Housing 
Sandalwood Adult Community (bareland 
strata) 

West 
RU5 – Bareland Strata Housing 
P2 – Education and Minor Institutional 

The Orchard 
Watson Road Elementary 

 

Subject Property Map: 469 Glenmore Road 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table   

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C3 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 1,541 m2 1,541 m2 

Lot Width 40.0 m 25.86 m – 30.48 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m 52.43 m 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 1.0 0.30 

Site Coverage 50% 24.5% 

Height Lesser of 15.0 m or 4 storeys 7.8 m / 2 storeys 

Front Yard 3.0 m 11.15 m 

Side Yard (south) 0.0 m 10.82 m 

Side Yard (north) 0.0 m 6.86 m 

Rear Yard 0.0 m 0.02 m 

Other Regulations 

Minimum Parking Requirements 
2 per service bay (1 stall within 

bay) = 6 stalls 
5 stalls 

66



Z13-0045 – Page 6 

 
 

Land Area Not Occupied By 
Buildings 

370 m2/wash bay = 2,220 m2 193.8 m2/wash bay 

Loading Space 1 per 1,900 m² GFA = 1 space 1 space 

Landscape Buffers: 
Front 
Rear 

Side (north) 
Side (south) 

 
Level 2 
Level 3 
Level 3 
Level 3 

 
Level 1 
Level 3 
Level 3 

Level 1 

Car Wash Vehicle Stacking 
5 stalls per automated pay 
2 stalls per self-wash bay 

5 stalls 
2 stalls 

 Indicates a requested variance to the minimum number of off-street parking stalls from 6 permitted to 5 proposed. 

 Indicates a requested variance to the minimum amount of land area not occupied by buildings from 370m2 per car wash bay to 

193.8m2 per car wash bay. 

 Indicates a requested variance to the minimum landscape buffer treatment level for both front and side lot lines from Level 3 

permitted to Level 1 proposed. 

5.0 Current Development Policies   

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Goals for a Sustainable Future 

Foster Sustainable Prosperity.1 Foster a healthy, dynamic and sustainable economy by retaining 
and attracting youth and talent, supporting business, encouraging appropriate new investment, 
providing for environmentally sound growth and improving the quality of life for Kelowna 
residents. 

Provide Spectacular Parks.2 Provide spectacular parks where people pursue active, creative and 
healthy lifestyles close to where they live and work. 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.3 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Permanent Growth Boundary.4 Establish a Permanent Growth Boundary as identified on Map 4.1 
and Map 5.2. The City of Kelowna will support development of property outside the Permanent 
Growth Boundary for more intensive use only to the extent permitted as per the OCP Future Land 
Use designations in place as of initial adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500, except for Agri-Business 
designated sites or as per Council’s specific amendment of this policy. The Permanent Growth 
Boundary may be reviewed as part of the next major OCP update. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s)  

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 1 (Introduction), Goal 5. 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 1 (Introduction), Goal 7. 
3 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 5 (Development Process) Policy 5.3.2. 
4 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 5 (Development Process) Policy 5.3.1. 

67



Z13-0045 – Page 7 

 
 

2) Placement permits are required for any sales or construction trailers that will be on 
site. The location(s) of these are to be shown at time of development permit 
application. 

3) A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit 
applications, but the following items may affect the form and character of the 
building(s): 

a. Hard surface paths are to be provided from the exit stairwells to the street(s) 

b. Any security system that limits access to exiting needs to be addressed in the 
code analysis by the architect. 

c. Fire department to comment of driveway access and turn radius requirements 
for their vehicles. 

4) A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions and site drainage.  

5) Fire resistance ratings are required for storage, janitor and/or garbage enclosure 
room(s). The drawings submitted for building permit are to clearly identify how this 
rating will be achieved and where these area(s) are located. 

6) The upper floor plan may have a dead end co-oridor(s). An exiting analysis is required 
as part of the code analysis at time of building permit application. No cross sections 
were provided at time of DP review. 

7) Size and location of all signage to be clearly defined as part of the development 
permit. This should include the signage required for the building addressing to be 
defined on the drawings per the bylaws on the permit application drawings. 

8) The solar panels may be reflective, which may affect the neighboring properties. 

9) Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See Development Engineering Memorandum, dated February 27, 2014. 

6.3 Bylaw Services 

No concerns.  

6.4 Fire Department 

Fire department access, fire flows, and hydrants as per the BC Building Code and City of Kelowna 
Subdivision Bylaw #7900. The Subdivision Bylaw #7900 requires a minimum of 150ltr/sec fire 
flows. 

6.5 Glenmore-Ellison Improvement District 

See letter from GEID, dated February 19, 2014. 

6.6 Telus Communications 

TELUS will provide underground facilities to this development.  Developer will be required to 
supply and install conduit as per TELUS policy. 

6.7 Fortis BC (electric) 

68



Z13-0045 – Page 8 

 
 

There are primary electrical distribution facilities along Glenmore Road.  The applicant is 
responsible for costs associated with any change to the subject property's existing service, if any, 
as well as the provision of appropriate land rights where required. 
 
Otherwise, FortisBC Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with this circulation. 

7.0 Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: December 16, 2013  
 
Neighbour Consultation Date: March 6-14, 2014 

Report prepared by: 

     
James Moore, Planner II 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 

Approved for Inclusion  D. Gilchrist, Div. Dir. of Community Planning & Real Estate 

 

Attachments:   

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan/Landscape Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Context/Site Photos 
Applicant’s Letter of Rationale, dated March 13, 2014 
Neighbour Consultation Summary, dated March 14, 2014  
Letter from GEID, dated February 19, 2014 
Development Engineering Memorandum, dated February 27, 2014 

69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date:  March 31, 2014 

RIM No. 1240-04 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning Department, Community Planning & Real Estate (AR) 

Application: HD14-0001 Owner:  Craig Abernethy 

Address: 609 Burne Avenue Applicant: Craig Abernethy 

Subject: Removal of Municipal Heritage Designation   

Existing OCP Designation: S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council consider the removal of the Municipal Heritage Designation from Lot 1, District 
Lot 14, ODYD, District Plan KAP54306, located at 609 Burne Avenue, Kelowna, BC, pursuant to 
Section 967 of the Local Government Act; 

AND FURTHER THAT the Rescinding Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further 
consideration. 

2.0 Purpose 

To remove the Municipal Heritage Designation from the property at 609 Burne Avenue, as the 
former heritage building located on this site, commonly known as the “John F. Burne House”, 
was completely destroyed by fire in August 2013.  

3.0 Urban Planning Department  

Municipal Heritage Designation is a tool available to BC municipalities under the Local 
Government Act to ensure the protection of valuable heritage buildings. Given that the original 
heritage building on the subject property was completely destroyed by fire, beyond 
reconstruction, and that the remains have since been demolished for safety reasons, Staff 
recommends removal of the Heritage Designation, so that the property owner may proceed with 
redevelopment of the property. On February 6, 2014, the Community Heritage Committee moved 
to support the proposed removal of the Heritage Designation.  

The subject site is presently zoned RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing. Prior to any new development 
occurring on the subject site, a Development Permit to review the form and character of 
proposed development would be required, as the site is located within an established Character 
Neighbourhood area, as defined by the Official Community Plan. 

98



HAP14-0001 – Page 2 

 
 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

Until the fire that fully destroyed the structure on the subject property in August 2013, it was 
listed on the City’s Heritage Register. Commonly known as the “John F. Burne House”, it was a 
2½ storey, wood frame house constructed in 1905. According to the Statement of Significance, 
the house was valued for its association with an early prominent citizen in the legal profession – 
John F. Burne (1867–1938) – and as an early example of residential construction. Burne moved to 
Kelowna in 1903, and is valued for being Kelowna’s first lawyer, as well as the City’s first police 
magistrate. (See attached Statement of Significance).  

In the 1950s the house had been converted to a boarding house, and then operated for quite 
some time (until the present) as an existing, non-conforming triplex dwelling. In 1995, the house 
was designated as a Municipal Heritage Building, pursuant with Section 967 of the Local 
Government Act, when the larger property was subdivided to create a new, west adjacent lot at 
601 Burne Avenue. 

4.2 Project Description 

The property owner is seeking to remove the Municipal Heritage Designation on the subject 
property, as the protected heritage building on the site was completely destroyed by fire in 
August 2013, beyond the point of reconstruction. In October 2013, the City issued a Demolition 
Permit for the removal of the building remains and to address health and safety issues (asbestos 
and mould).  

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located mid-block on the south side of the 600 Block of Burne Avenue, 
between Pandosy and Richter Streets, in the South Central neighbourhood. The subject site and 
surrounding area is largely zoned RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing and designated as S2RES – Single / 
Two Unit Residential. 

Subject Property Map: 609 Burne Avenue 

 

99



HAP14-0001 – Page 3 

 
 

Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: February 3, 2014  

Community Heritage Committee: February 6, 2014  
 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Community Heritage Commission at the 
meeting on February 6, 2014 and the following recommendation was passed: 

 
THAT the Community Heritage Committee supports the removal of the Heritage 
Designation for the now demolished property previously located at 609 Burne Avenue. 

 

Report prepared by: 

     

Abigail Riley, Urban Planner 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 

 

Attachments: 

 
Subject Property Map 
Building/Context Photos  
Statement of Significance – 609 Burne Avenue 
 

100



101



102



103



104



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: April 1, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: 
Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services, Community Planning and Real 
Estate (DB) 

Application: OCP14-0007 / Z14-0002 Owner: 
Surinder Gosal 

City of Kelowna 

Address: 
1908 & 1924 Henkel Rd and (Part 
of) Henkel Road 

Applicant: Surinder Gosal 

Subject: Official Community Plan and Zoning Amendment 

Existing OCP Designation: 
REP - Resource Protection Area and EDINST – Educational/Major 
Institutional 

Proposed OCP Designation: S2RES - Single Two Units Residential 

Existing Zone: 
RR3 – Rural Residential 3 and P2 – Educational and Minor 
Institutional 

Proposed Zone: RU2 – Medium Lot Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP14-0007 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 by changing the Future Land Use 
designation of part of Lot A Section 4 Township 23 ODYD Plan 34105 Except Plan KAP61643, 
located at 1924 Henkel Rd from the Resource Protection Area (REP) designation to the 
Single/Two Unit Residential (S2RES) designation as shown Map “A” attached to the report of 
Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services, dated April 1, 2014 be considered by Council; 

AND THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP14-0007 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 by changing the Future Land Use 
designation of a part of the Henkel Road closure area from Educational/Major Institutional 
(EDINST) designation to the Single/Two Unit Residential (S2RES) designation as shown Map “A” 
attached to the report of Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services, dated April 1, 2014 be 
considered by Council; 

AND THAT Council considers the Public Information Session public process to be appropriate 
consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, as outlined in the 
Report of the Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services, dated April 1, 2014;  
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z14-0002 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of part of Lot A Section 4 Township 23 ODYD Plan 

105



Z14-0002 / OCP14-0007 – Page 2 

 
 

34105 Except Plan KAP61643, located at 1924 Henkel Rd and Lot 2 Section 4 Township 23 ODYD 
Plan 17274, located at 1908 Henkel Rd from the RR3 – Rural Residential 3 zone to the RU2 – 
Medium lot housing zone as shown on Map “B” attached to the report of Subdivision, Agriculture 
& Environment Services, dated April 1, 2014, be considered by Council; 

And THAT Rezoning Application No. Z14-0002 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of part of the Henkel Road closure area from the P2 – 
Educational and Minor Institutional zone to the RU2 – Medium lot housing zone as shown on Map 
“B” attached to the report of Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services, dated April 1, 
2014, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment and the Zone Amending Bylaw be 
forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
issuance of a Preliminary Layout Review by the City of Kelowna’s Subdivision Approving Officer. 

2.0 Purpose 

To amend the Official Community Plan Future Land Use designation and to rezone the subject 
properties in order to accommodate the development of a 6 lot single family subdivision. 

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture and Environment Services comments  

The applicant and owner of 1908 Henkel Road is proposing a six lot residential subdivision that 
would urbanize and improve the existing Henkel Road.  In order to achieve the objective, the 
applicant approached the City of Kelowna in late 2013 to purchase a vacant portion of City of 
Kelowna land as well as some excess road right of way.  The applicant and the City of Kelowna 
have reached a sales agreement and the applicant is now ready to move forward with the 
proposed development. 

As the development site is located directly north of North Glenmore Elementary School, School 
District 23 expressed some concerns about the exiting pick up/drop off area located on the south 
side of Henkel Road.  The school district would like to ensure that a pick up/drop off area, as 
well as a sidewalk, be built as part of the proposed development.  As Developers are typically 
responsible to urbanize their side of the street, staff have agreed to request the sidewalk to be 
constructed on the south side of the street to reduce vehicular/pedestrian conflicts.  This 
location would also provide safe pedestrian access to the school, as well as provide a logical 
connection to the Glenmore Active Transportation Corridor.  Staff have also been working with 
the development engineer to ensure that there is appropriate parking for pick ups and drop offs. 

Subdivision, Agriculture, and Environment Staff support this application, as it would improve the 
existing condition of Henkel Road and provide reasonably priced infill housing in the area.   

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

In late 2013, the owner of 1908 Henkel Road approached the City to inquire about the potential 
development of his property.  The owner expressed interest in acquiring some of the adjacent 

106



Z14-0002 / OCP14-0007 – Page 3 

 
 

un-used City-owned land at 1924 Henkel Road, as well as an excess potion of Henkel Road right of 
way, in order to facilitate the development of a 6 lot subdivision.  Upon review, it was 
determined that the subject un-used City land was no longer required for City and that the 
proposed subdivision would contribute to the urbanization of Henkel Road. The applicant entered 
into purchase agreement with City of Kelowna subject to various conditions.   

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing the development of a 6 lot subdivision that would require an OCP 
Future Land Use designation amendment, as well as a rezoning amendment.  It must also be 
noted that the proposed subdivision layout will require a lot depth variance on proposed lot 2 in 
order to accommodate the proposed cul-de-sac.      

OCP Amendment 

The applicant is proposing to amend the OCP future Land Use designation for parts of 1924 
Henkel Road from the Resource Protection Area (REP) to the proposed Single Two Unit 
Residential (S2RES) designation. The applicant is also proposing to amend the OCP Future Land 
Use for part of the proposed Henkel Road Closure area from the exiting Educational/Major 
Institutional (EDINST) to the proposed Single/Two Unit Residential (S2RES), to accommodate the 
proposed subdivision (See attached proposed subdivision layout).   

Rezoning 

The applicant is proposing to rezone 1908 Henkel Road and parts of 1924 Henkel Road from the 
existing Rural Residential 3 (RR3) zone to the proposed Medium Lot Housing (RU2) zone.  In 
addition, the applicant is also proposing to rezone a section of the Henkel Road closure area from 
the Education and Minor Institutional (P2) to Medium Lot Housing (RU2) zone to accommodate the 
proposed subdivision layout, as shown on the attached subdivision layout.  

4.3 Site Context 

The subject properties are located in the Glenmore-Clifton-Dilworth Sector of the City in a 
predominantly single family neighbourhood. Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RR3 – Rural Residential 3 Single Family Housing  

East A1 – Agricultural 1 Agriculture 

South P2 – Education and Minor Institutional School 

West A1 –Agricultural 1 Single Family Housing 

 

  

107



Z14-0002 / OCP14-0007 – Page 4 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 
 

 
 

4.4 Current Development Policies  

4.5 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Future Land Use 

Single/Two Unit Residential (S2RES)1:  Single detached homes for occupancy by one family, 
single detached homes with a secondary suite or carriage house, semi-detached buildings used 
for two dwelling units, modular homes, bareland strata, and those complementary uses (i.e. 
minor care centres, minor public services/utilities, convenience facility and neighbourhood 
parks), which are integral components of urban neighbourhoods. Suitability of non-residential 
developments within the neighbourhood environment will be determined on a site-specific basis. 
Non-residential developments causing increases in traffic, parking demands or noise in excess of 
what would typically be experienced in a low density neighbourhood would not be considered 
suitable.  

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.2 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan – Future Land Use Chapter. 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 

108



Z14-0002 / OCP14-0007 – Page 5 

 
 

Sensitive Infill.3 Encourage new development or redevelopment in existing residential areas to 
be sensitive to or reflect the character of the neighborhood with respect to building design, 
height and siting. 

Housing Mix.4 Support a greater mix of housing unit size, form and tenure in new multi-unit 
residential and mixed use developments.  

5.0 Technical Comments 

5.1 Development Engineering Department 

Please see attached.  

5.2 Fortis BC 

There are primary distribution facilities along Snowsell Street.  In order to service the proposed 
subdivision, a primary distribution extension will be required from the existing power line on 
Snowsell St, the cost of which will be significant.  To date, arrangements have not been made to 
bring electrical service to the proposed lots.  The applicant is responsible for costs associated 
with any change to the proposed lots' existing service, if any, as well as the provision of 
appropriate land rights where required. 

5.3 Irrigation District 

Attached. 

5.4 School District No. 23 

The subject property is located to the north of North Glenmore Elementary School which has a 
current enrolment of around 460 students. 

Historically there have been some transportation challenges on and surrounding the North 
Glenmore Elementary site (traffic/congestion issues, concerned residents and pedestrian safety 
concerns) that have been somewhat mitigated by the efforts and investments of the School 
District and the City of Kelowna. As with most school sites, there continue to be some 
transportation challenges at this location. 

Currently many parents utilize the gravel shoulder on Henkel Road as a pick-up and drop off 
location for students. We would like to see this practice continue and as such would like any 
upgrade of Henkel Rd to include on-street parking and a sidewalk. 

Other than our request that infrastructure improvements associated with this application 
consider the needs and safety of North Glenmore Elementary students, the School District has no 
objections to the above mentioned applications. 

  

                                                
3 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.22.6 (Development Process Chapter). 
4 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.22.11 (Development Process Chapter). 

109



Z14-0002 / OCP14-0007 – Page 6 

 
 

 

6.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:      January 15, 2014  

Land exchange (road closure/dedication) agreement finalized:  March 17, 2014 

 

Report prepared by: 

                  
Damien Burggraeve, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Shelley Gambacort, Director, Land Use Management 
 

Attachments: 

Map A – OCP Amendment 
Map B – Zoning Amendment 
Subject Property Map 
Proposed Subdivision Layout 
Development Engineering Requirements 
Public Consultation 
 

110



UnionRd

Ka
thl

er 
Rd

KerrRd

Henkel Rd

Scenic Rd

Sn
ow

se
ll S

t N

Gl
en

mo
re 

Rd
 N

EDINST

MRL

S2RES

REP

PARK

¯

MAP "A" OCP AMENDMENT
OCP14-0007

This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its
accuracy. All information should be verified.

Rev. 19-Mar-140 5025 Metres

Educational/Major Institutional
Major Park/Open Space (public)
Resource Protection Area
Single / Two Unit Residential

Legal Parcel
EDINST to S2RES
REP to S2RES

Subject Property Notes:
Amend the OCP Future Land Use designation for 
a portion of the road closure area from 
Educational/Major Institutional (EDINST) to
Single / Two Unit Residential (S2RES).

Subject Property Notes:
Amend the OCP Future Land Use designation
for a portion of the subject property from 
Resource Protection Area (REP) to 
Single / Two Unit Residential (S2RES).

111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
3/31/2014 
 

File: 
 

TA14-0006 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Shelley Gambacort, Director, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment  

Subject: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed Text Amendment to Zoning Bylaw 8000 to permit Medical Marihuana 
Production Facilities in the I1 - Business Industrial Zone 

  
 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No. TA14-0006 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw 
No. 8000 by adding Medical Marihuana Production Facilities (MMPF) as a Principal Use in the I1 
– Business Industrial Zone, as outlined in Schedule “A” of the report from the Subdivision, 
Agriculture & Environment Department dated March 31, 2014, be considered by Council. 
 
AND THAT the Text Amendment Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further 
consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To forward for Council’s consideration a text amendment to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000, which 
would allow Medical Marihuana Production Facilities as a principal use in the I1 – Business 
Industrial Zone. 
 
Background: 
 
At the March 18th regular meeting of Council third reading was given to a Text Amending 
Bylaw to allow Medical Marihuana Production Facilities (MMPF’s) as a principal permitted use 
in the I2 – General Industrial, I3 – Heavy Industrial and I4 – Central Industrial zones.  At that 
same meeting Council also directed staff to proceed with an amendment to include MMPF’s as 
a principal permitted use in the I1 – Business Industrial zone. 
 
The I1 – Business Industrial Zone is considered to be an appropriate industrial zone for MMPF’s 
as the majority of the existing I1 principal permitted uses are also currently allowed in the I3 
and/or the I4 zones.  
  

122



Other factors considered when determining the appropriate zones for the MMPF land use 
include: 

 the compatibility of, and impacts on, adjacent uses,  
 the available infrastructure (road, water, storm, sanitary and electrical)  
 accessibility for emergency services; and  
 the ability to repurpose the buildings.  

 
It should be noted that all MMPF’s will first require approval from Health Canada and before a 
Health Canada licence can be issued, compliance with the site and physical security 
requirements under the new Health Canada Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations 
(MMPR)is required.   
 
Key Health Canada MMPR’s criteria include: 

 Mandatory building and production security requirements relating to monitoring and 
detection to prevent unauthorized access; 

 All areas within a site where cannabis is present must be equipped with a system that 
filters air to prevent the escape of odours and, if present, pollen; and 

 Before a Health Canada licence can be issued, compliance with the site and physical 
security requirements under the MMPR and Health Canada Directive on Physical 
Security Requirements for Controlled Substances will be verified through a pre-licence 
inspection by Health Canada. 

 
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
Divisional Director of Community Planning & Real Estate 
Divisional Director of Corporate and Protective Services 
Divisional Director of Communications and Information Services 
Director Development Services 
Building & Permitting Manager 
City Clerk  
Policy & Planning Manager 
Urban Planning Manager 
RCMP, Crime Prevention Supervisor 
Deputy Fire Chief, Fire Administration, Training & Fire Prevention 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Health Canada establishes the Regulations and issues licences for medical marihuana under 
the Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations (MMPR) regulations which came into force 
July 19, 2013 and will be in full effect April 1, 2014 replacing the current Marihuana Medical 
Access Regulations (MMAR), which will be repealed on March 31, 2014. 
 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
 
 
Existing Policy: 
 
There is currently no existing policy specific to Medical Marihauna Production in either the 
OCP or the Zoning Bylaw. 
  

123



 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations 
Personnel Implications 
Alternate Recommendation 
Communications 
 
 
 
 
 
Submitted by: S. Gambacort, Director/Approving Officer 
Subdivision, Agricultural & Environmental Department 
 
 
Approved for inclusion: Doug Gilchrist, Division Director Community Planning & Real Estate 
 
 
Attachments: Schedule “A” 
   
  

124



 
SCHEDULE “A” 

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT 
 

 

 
 

Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 
Section Existing Text Proposed Text 

15.1- I1-Business Industrial 
15.1.2 Principal Uses 

N/A Add as a principal use: 
Medical Marihuana Production Facility 
 

125


	Agenda
	3.1 2014-03-03 Report - Thomson Flats ASP Request.docx
	3.1 2014-03-03 Attachment 1 - Subject Property Map.pdf
	3.1 2014-03-03 Attachment 2 - Proposed Phasing Plan.pdf
	3.1 2014-03-03 Attachment 3 - RDCO Comments.pdf
	3.1 2014-03-03 Attachment 4 - Development Engineering Memo.pdf
	3.1 2014-03-10 Report - Thomson Flats ASP Bylaw.docx
	3.2 2014 03 24 Report Z13-0038 721-725 Francis Ave.docx
	3.2 2014 03 24 Attachments Z13-0038 721-725 Francis Ave.pdf
	3.3 2014 03 24 Report Z13-0037 3657 Hwy 97 N.docx
	3.3 2014 03 24 Attachments Z13-0037 3657 HWY 97 N.pdf
	3.4 2014 03 31 Report Z13-0045 469 Glenmore Rd.docx
	3.4 2014 03 31 Attachment Z13-0045 469 Glenmore Rd.pdf
	3.5 2014 03 31 Report HD14-0001 609 Burne Ave.docx
	3.5 2014 03 31 Attachments HD14-0001 609 Burne Ave.pdf
	3.6 2014 03 31 Report Z14-0002 OCP14-0007 1908 1924 Henkel Rd - Land Use.docx
	3.6 2014 03 31 Attachments Z14-0002 OCP14-0007 1908 1924 Henkel Rd.pdf
	3.7 2014 03 31 Report TA04-0006.docx

